

Working Paper No. 561

Land governance of suburban areas of Vietnam: Dynamics and contestations of planning, housing and the environment

Copyright UNDP © 2011 All rights reserved Manufactured in Viet Nam

Adapted with permission from UNDP

Joop de Wit

June 2013

ISSN 0921-0210

The Institute of Social Studies is Europe's longest-established centre of higher education and research in development studies. On 1 July 2009, it became a University Institute of the Erasmus University Rotterdam (EUR). Post-graduate teaching programmes range from six-week diploma courses to the PhD programme. Research at ISS is fundamental in the sense of laying a scientific basis for the formulation of appropriate development policies. The academic work of ISS is disseminated in the form of books, journal articles, teaching texts, monographs and working papers. The Working Paper series provides a forum for work in progress which seeks to elicit comments and generate discussion. The series includes academic research by staff, PhD participants and visiting fellows, and award-winning research papers by graduate students.

Working Papers are available in electronic format at www.iss.nl

Please address comments and/or queries for information to:

Institute of Social Studies P.O. Box 29776 2502 LT The Hague The Netherlands *or* E-mail: wpapers@iss.nl

Table of Contents

| Abs | TRACT | 5 |
|-----|--|----------|
| 1 | INTRODUCTION | 5 |
| | Background | 6 |
| | The policy problem | 7 |
| | Analytical framework | 9 |
| | Governance and the multi stakeholder policy process | 9 |
| | Perspectives on land and legal pluralism | 9 |
| 2 | LAND USE CHANGES | 10 |
| | Industry and industrial parks | 12 |
| | Housing | 12 |
| | Infrastructure, parks and green spaces | 13 |
| 3 | STAKEHOLDERS IN SUBURBAN LAND DYNAMICS | 15 |
| 4 | LAND USE PLANNING AND ZONING | 17 |
| | Planning systems are too rigid and coordination is weak | 17 |
| | Plans and policies are not implemented or enforced | 19 |
| | Planning follows actual developments | 20 |
| | Capacity in terms of human resources is lacking | 21 |
| | No zone planning | 21 |
| | Planning as clearance—leap frog urbanisation and urban sprawl | 22 |
| | Environmental issues | 22 |
| 5 | INFORMALITY AND CORRUPTION | 22 |
| | Corruption is pervasive | 23 |
| | Legal pluralism and 'hanging plans' | 24 |
| 5 | BENEFITS AND IMPACTS OF ALTERNATIVE USES OF SUBURBAN LAND FC LOCAL COMMUNITIES | or 25 |
| 6 | URBAN AGRICULTURE | 26 |
| 7 | CONCLUSIONS | 28 |
| | Suggestions as regards land use | 29 |
| Ref | FERENCES | 31 |

Abstract

After the Doi Moi ('renovation') reforms in Vietnam from 1986, land ownership rules were adjusted, effectively terminating former land collectivisation efforts. While land ownership remained fully under the control of the state, a 1993 land law conferred 20-year leaseholds to most farmers. They could now utilize farm land individually, and sell, swap and mortgage the land in a situation similar to private ownership. These leaseholds are now expiring and a new 2013 land law is in the making. This paper was initially written for UNDP Vietnam which supports Vietnam to help formulate a strong new land law, and brings out the complexities of land governance in the suburban areas of fast expanding Vietnamese cities. It first considers the present and changing land use of suburban areas and the key stakeholders involved here - powerful State Owned Enterprises, farmers, bureaucrats and communist party leaders. Planning practices are then assessed - and seen to be both rigid and complex, with different departments at various levels working at cross purposes under conditions of conflicting rules, laws and weak capacities. This is one reason for the dominance of informal arrangements and widespread corruption, where powerful actors benefit hugely and illegally from conditions of opacity and informal networks. Overall outcomes are that cities expand in a haphazard ('leapfrog') and inefficient manner, with insufficient attention for timely and adequate infrastructure, the environment and for people's welfare as in social amenities and parks. As a result of lopsided incentive systems, it is the state which foregoes huge incomes and faces more costly investments, while many suburban farmers are affected through (arbitrary) land acquisition and inadequate compensation.

Keywords

Land governance, suburban land, planning, environment, urban housing, Vietnam

Land governance of suburban areas of Vietnam Dynamics and contestations of planning, housing and the environment

1 Introduction

Since 1975, and following the establishment of a Communist state in Vietnam, the state, or rather 'the people', became the sole owner of all land, and in large parts of the country collective farms were established. After the *Doi Moi* ('renovation') reforms in 1986, which paved the way for opening up Vietnam's economy and for market-based reforms, land ownership rules were adjusted, which was no doubt related to a dramatic decline in agricultural production on collective farms. Even while the authority the Communist Party and the state remained unchallenged, private enterprise, deregulation and foreign investment were now encouraged. Land ownership remained fully under the control of the state, but a law enacted in 1993 (and amended in 2003) conferred 20-year leaseholds to farmer households most of whom obtained Land Use Rights Certificates. They could now utilize farm land individually, and sell, swap and mortgage the land in a situation which looks like private land-use rights.

These 20 year leaseholds are to expire in 2013, so that there is an urgency in Vietnam to adopt a new land law this year. In anticipation of such new legislation, a relatively lively debate started on the matter for some years now (heating up considerably from late 2012), partly fuelled by incidents where agitated farmers were protesting fiercely or even with arms against forced evictions, perceived corruption, or against what they saw as insufficient compensation for land claimed by 'the state'. Various think tanks and academic institutions engaged in assessing the dynamics of land ownerships, land transactions and the role of the state at the various levels of Vietnamese administration – the ministries in Hanoi, the provinces, districts and communes – and related impacts on farmers and farmer households.

The UNDP Office in Vietnam supported the process of moving towards the new land legislation, and commissioned a series of studies in the format of policy briefs which production was coordinated and supported by the Hanoi based Centre for Agricultural Policy CAP of the Institute of Policy and Strategy for Agriculture and Rural Development (IPSARD), under a contract agreement with the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)¹. I was requested to study and provide recommendations as to the topic '*Evaluating the Efficient Use of Suburban Land and Proposing a Model for Urban Agriculture*', for which I carried out fieldwork in Vietnam in 2011 with generous support by

¹ This text is based on primary data collection in several Vietnam provinces, Hanoi and HCMA including interviews, surveys and focus group discussions, as well as on collecting and using a variety of secondary sources including policy and legal documents, newspapers, websites and general and academic material. The support of CAP staff – Dr. Nguyen Do Anh Tuan, Mr. Kim Van Chinh, Ms. Ha Luong Ngoc and Ms. Thu Trang was very important and is gratefully acknowledged.

CAP and IPSARD². UNDP has kindly consented that the findings of the study can be published as an ISS Working Paper, so as to make the research findings available for a wider audience. This UNDP support is gratefully acknowledged.

Background

Vietnam is urbanising relatively rapidly, by approximately 1 million annually since 1996. "The country is now over a quarter urbanised compared to around 20% in the mid-1970s. Between 1994 and 1999 net migration contributed to around one third of population growth of urban areas. The urban population of Vietnam is likely to almost double to around 36 million' (World Bank, 2006, Sharpe and Quang, 2004; Berg et al. 2003). Vietnam News (8-7-2006) reports that the total number of people living in Viet Nam's urban areas is projected to reach 30 million by 2010 and that it is estimated that there will be 46 million urban dwellers by 2020. The urbanisation rate is expected to increase to 33 per cent by 2010 and 45 per cent by 2020. In 2000, 19 million of the country's 80 million people lived in urban areas, with an urbanisation rate of 22 per cent. In that year, urban land accounted for 63,300 ha, or about 0.2 per cent of the country's total area. The figure is expected to rise to 243,000 ha or 0.74 per cent by 2010 and to 460,000 ha, or 1.4 per cent, by 2020.

The relatively fast urban growth is related to a general fast economic development of Vietnam, undergoing a transformation from a state led to a market driven economic model, and where the state actively promotes industrialisation and modernization. Large investments projects, including industrial and special economic zones have developed throughout the country, supported by the growth in foreign investment (FDI). And while the country is becoming richer, there is increased demand for (good quality) housing, as well as for infrastructure and facilities (roads, airports) to make possible both industrial and housing developments. And while cities all over the world may promote the densification of existing inner city areas, it is in the urban fringe where cities mostly expand to accommodate urban growth. Vietnam is no exception to this.

The major driver for suburban development is the availability of land, in combination with low(er) land costs. The suburban areas so become a natural location for new housing projects and industrial zones, a model of

² This publication is then the outcome of cooperation between Dr. de Wit of ISS and the Centre for Agricultural Policy CAP of the Institute of Policy and Strategy for Agriculture and Rural Development (IPSARD), under a contract agreement between ISS and the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). It does not necessarily reflect the views of the Centre for Agricultural Policy.

industrial development with which Vietnam is rather pre-occupied³. The question arises as to how land in the suburban areas around Vietnamese cities is being used and how this land use evolves over time. Do the urban authorities have sufficient control over such land use in terms of planning, zoning and regulating development and what are the impacts and implications for the citizens living there? And since growing cities need more food to feed ever larger populations, is there (still) scope for agriculture in and around these cities, in various modalities captured under the concept of urban agriculture?

The policy problem

There has been a remarkably quick change in urban development in Vietnam since the *Doi Moi* (renovation reforms) were initiated in 1986, and developments have been most marked in what is called 'the urban fringe', the city suburbs, or peri-urban areas. All these concepts refer to the 'the areas of expansion and land conversion at the edge of urban settlements, and areas within the urban settlement that are not suitable for urban uses. As such much of the urban fringe is characterised by competition between rural and urban land uses, with urban land uses typically on the ascendance' (World Bank/Halcrow, 2006:5). Dynamics at the urban fringe, from an economic perspective, relate to differential rents for rural and urban uses, where urban land use may push out rural/agricultural land uses. However, even while there is a relation between distance from a city and land use change, this is rarely uniform and some areas change faster than others – as a result of geographical, market and governmental variations and interactions (ibid:6).

There is a clear change of land use going on in Vietnam's suburban areas, as a result of the actions (and non-actions) of various stakeholders which are listed in the next section. Key players are the Government and State Owned Enterprises (SOEs) which have been engaged in locating manufacturing and industry at or beyond the urban fringe of a wide range of cities, so providing wage-based employment within reach of formerly agricultural villages (cf. Policy Brief on Farmer Welfare: de Wit, 2011). Residents of such villages themselves have become agents of change by seizing on ample new opportunities for work and income. Migrants to cities as well as people seeking other or better housing have also settled or bought in these areas. Socially and economically, there is simultaneously integration of urban and rural areas in the more populous regions that transcend the administrative designations and boundaries. For example, Sharpe and Quang (2004: 3-12, 16) indicate that the pressures of development in the urban fringe of Hanoi are immense, and that

³ Vietnam News quotes the Minister of MONRE: 8-1-2008: 'In the past nearly 20 years, about 3 per cent of agricultural land was lost to industry. It is predicted that by 2020-25, another 10-15 per cent of agricultural land and other types of land will be lost to the industry and service sectors. If we want to develop industry, we have to allocate land for it. But what type of land should be used for industrial development is still an open question. In my opinion, land for industrial development should be the hilly land or low- productivity land. It is important to keep highly productive land so that we can ensure food security. This is the top priority'.

one can speak of an incremental urbanization of villages. They believe suburban development tends to disperse new economic activity – often haphazardly across large areas leading to urban sprawl. Even the announcement of a change in plans may have large impacts: rural land values in the peri-urban Cu Chi district of HCMC dramatically increased in anticipation of being re-zoned as urban land. The areas of urban zoned land closest to the centre of the city have increased by more than 100% between January 2000 and January 2004 (ibid: 3-5).

Generally then one can speak of what can be called "Stealth" urbanization: 'Settlement areas of rural communes are rapidly becoming more densely settled through population growth and housing construction ... taking on many of the characteristics of urban areas'. This phenomenon does not appear to be recognized in the Government of Vietnam's urban strategy. It is taking place without government support or mitigation of impacts (DiGregorio and Vogler, 2003).

This paper then aims to contribute to a better understanding of dynamics of change at the urban-fringe of Vietnamese cities, considering issues of (non) planning, patterns and changes of land use, and the presence of and future prospects for urban agriculture. It will deal with the following issues in specific:

- Changes and development of suburban land through the time, and the functions of suburban land;
- An assessment of the efficiency, effectiveness, inclusiveness of management and policies for suburban land in Vietnam, in terms of land use planning and zoning, and environmental issues of suburban land use;
- Related to this, the nature of contestations around suburban land and the differential powers and opportunities of different stakeholders such as farmers, officials, middle class house owners and investors;
- Perceptions and opportunities as regards alternative use of suburban land by local communities;
- Alternative options and policy orientation/recommendations to improve the efficiency, equitability, inclusiveness and sustainability of suburban land use and land governance;
- Assess the feasibility of urban agriculture and its development in suburban areas leading to the formulation of proposals to develop models for urban agriculture in Vietnam;
- Provide suggestions for an analytical framework to understand and analyse the above issues.

Analytical framework

Governance and the multi stakeholder policy process

This paper applies a set of governance perspectives to help understand dynamics at the urban fringe, notably a 'multi-stakeholder governance' perspective located in political economy, starting from a focus on both strong(er) and weak(er) stakeholders who operate together in governance and policy arenas (the work of Hyden and Court, 200.). Government is not alone any longer in governing; there are many other stakeholders in formal and informal configurations who co-govern, and who have smaller or larger influence on government and government outcomes. Hence, power dimensions are critical, e.g. the relative vulnerability of farmers vis-à-vis government officials - where the latter interpret the laws and may have a top-down attitude as regards the farmers which affects land recovery and land compensation. At a more concrete level of analysis, applied are political/ power oriented perspectives on the interactive policy process. This includes top-down versus bottom-up perspectives on the policy process, which, for Vietnam incorporates both the ideals and the realities of grass-roots democracy, and the widely advocated proposals to engage farmers, land owners, citizens in land use planning and monitoring. Generally, specific perspectives and ideas/ideology of public administration which apply to Vietnam will have to be given due attention.

Attention is needed for *institutional dimensions*, including not only the rules of the game (North), but also the structure and culture of organisations, the role of norms, values and culture in society, for example gender norms, and the role of ideology. This also entails looking at the nature and force of the incentives which influence the (non)actions of stakeholders. Another dimension of institutions is capacity: the ability of organisations to achieve their objectives, but also the capacity of its leadership and staff to contribute to these- as in human resources.

Perspectives on land, legal pluralism

Perspectives on land are applied, for example considering (suburban) land as production factor for (urban) agriculture and perspectives on land as commodity, with different practices in a range of development and transition countries and changing perspectives on property rights and their enforcement in the urban contexts of Vietnam. More concretely, perspectives of suburban land use including operational and verifiable indicators for efficiency, effectiveness, equitability, inclusiveness and sustainability are used.

Land governance concepts and analytical issues have been taken on board, including issues of managing land use at the local level through a variety of stakeholders both local, provincial, national and private sector. An important dimension here concerns the incidence of corruption 'the private use of public funds' even while this definition does not cover all corruption in land related transactions, where money can be made by misusing information of upcoming land price changes. Hence, the perspectives relating to 'Good Governance' which include curbing corruption, enhancing accountability and transparency, and strengthening capacity are extremely relevant (cf. World Bank et al. 2011).

An interesting discourse on *legal pluralism* at the juxtaposition of law, land and culture is represented by authors like Gillespie (2004, 2011) and Sikor (2004). They critically question the effectiveness of formalising property rights and are concerned about the lack of attention for cultural and historical variations which differ from place to place, and in different epistemic communities – such as party officials, officials dealing with land matters, courts and judges and what Gillespie calls 'self-regulating communities' which are often successful on solving land disputes by appealing to traditions and cultural norms of a village or clan. Such perspectives may be useful not only to assess actual outcomes of land disputes, but also explain perhaps the overwhelming tendency of the Vietnamese to seek informal solutions to housing and land practices.

The text of this working paper is based on a variety of primary (interviews, survey, focus group discussions, observation) and a range of secondary sources, and an effort was made to bring together as much relevant literature as possible as reflected in the references list. However, it was noted by others that the study of urban planning and suburban land use and land developments is hampered by a relative lack of studies already done (No Author, 2006).'Very few land use planning studies have been performed in rural areas and even fewer in urban areas. Not many land use planning studies in rural and very less study in urban areas could be found'.

This text has been set up to deal with the following topics in seven sections: 1. Land use changes; 2. Stakeholders; 3) planning and zoning; 4) corruption and informality; 5) Benefits and impacts of alternative uses of suburban land for local communities; 6) Urban agriculture; and 7) Conclusions.

2 Land use changes

This table is an indication of land use change in the case of HCMC (from Tran Thi Van, 2006)

| Land use / Year | 1995 (%) | 2000 (%) | 2005 (%) |
|-------------------|----------|----------|----------|
| Built-up land | 14.90 | 18.41 | 24.21 |
| Agricultural land | 47.94 | 46.42 | 42.79 |
| Forest | 16.55 | 15.98 | 16.16 |
| Water | 16.31 | 16.23 | 15.76 |
| Unused land | 4.30 | 2.96 | 1.08 |

TABLE 1

A table on Hanoi depicts developments in the city and surrounding areas (Sharpe and Quang, 2004: 3-17):

| Distance | Housing Project | | Land Allocated | |
|----------|-----------------|------------|------------------------|------------|
| | Number | Percentage | Area (m ²) | Percentage |
| 02 km | 39 | 4.66 | 150,962 | 4.03 |
| 25 km | 506 | 60.46 | 1,844,646 | 49.30 |
| 58 km | 220 | 26.28 | 1,126,288 | 30.10 |
| >8 km | 72 | 8.60 | 620,060 | 16.57 |
| Total | 837 | 100.00 | 3,741,956 | 100.00 |

 TABLE 2

 Spatial Distribution of Residential Projects in 1986-19994

Several sources, as well as our own fieldwork data indicate that agricultural land is being changed at a high rate into use for residential and other purposes (see also Policy Brief by De Wit, 2011 on Farmer Welfare). One source states that, in the whole of Vietnam, 10,000 hectares of agricultural land is transformed for non-agricultural use in peri-urban areas each year. Hanoi lost an average of 268 ha of rural land annually between 1988 and 2000, (Sharpe and Quang, 2004: 3-2). In many areas wet rice agriculture has been superseded by more intense vegetable market gardens and domestic or local industries, trade, services or remittances⁵ (DiGregorio and Vogler, 2003). A case study of one suburban commune near Hanoi indicates land use changes as follows: agricultural land reduced from 43,7 to 16.7 %; paddy land from 23.8 to 11.2%, and build up areas increased from 32.6 to 72.1% (Sharpe & Quang, 2004:3-25). And even if some farmland remains in between new industrial or housing developments, this is often no longer suitable for farming: plots are too small; the former irrigation works have been undermined or are no longer effective, or there is pollution.

Tran Thi Van (2006) argues that, due to uncontrolled rapid urban expansion, there is considerable loss of agricultural land around HCMC. This has led to ecological unbalance and a disappearance of traditional agricultural trade villages. Low-lying land areas cultivating wet rice (in district 2) were replaced for balancing the drainage, but construction and what he calls 'concretization' processes have again changed these into actual urban areas causing water flows into lower old urban areas and regular flooding. He argues that, when agricultural land is changed into land for non-agricultural purposes, only a few groups of rich people have good living level, whereas in contract nearly all farmers who used to live on their land for generations, become poor and face a difficult life. However, evidence from other sources and our own fieldwork indicate that this does not always have to be the case – and that

⁴ According to statistics covering 837 housing projects undertaken during the 1986-1999 period, 60.5% of these representing half of the total developed land was located in the zone 2-5 km from the city centre where many old villages are situated. The fringe zone 5-8 km from the centre attracted about 26.3 percent of the projects and 30.1 percent of the total land area.

⁵ Such developments contrast with a professed national interest to safeguard food security e.g. in terms of making sure there remains enough land for growing rice.

some farmers are also benefiting from urbanisation – and the employment and income opportunities it brings along.

Industry and industrial parks

The urban fringe is the preferred location for new industries, either in the form of separate factories, or in the form of industrial parks. Observations in the urban fringe of HCMV indicates that the landscape is scattered with smaller and larger factories, most of which in operation, others not in use. The suburbs are most known however for industrial parks or industrial zones, where local authorities have reserved large areas of land for industry, often relocating previous land owners/farmers. By 2005, land had been recovered from more than 100,000 households for the development of 190 industrial zones (ADB, 2005 in Phuc, 2009:4). More than 400,000 hectares of agricultural land were converted for other uses from 1995-2000 (ibid.). For example, in Greater Hanoi there are more than 50 industrial parks, which constitute 71% of all parks in North Vietnam and 23% of all parks in the country. It is beyond the scope of this text to go into detail here but it is generally felt that there are too many parks in the country, a result of inter-provincial competition, as well as unhelpful incentives as regards officials (see later). Many parks are not fully used. The ones around Hanoi and HCMC are amongst the most successful ones, with more than half occupancy. On the other hand, there are many industrial parks which are almost empty (cf. De Wit, 2011, and (<u>http://www.grips.ac.jp/module/</u> vietnam/indparks.html).

Housing

The suburbs are also the location for different types of housing developments, and this can be illustrated by the case of the Ha Dinh commune, located at 6 kms south of Hanoi, where the following house construction/ land conversion modalities occurred (Quang and Sharpe, 2004:3-24):

- Development of housing projects by state organizations,
- Direct construction by government for rent or sale,
- Informal housing and expansion of squatter settlements
- Conversion or profiteering by farmers, and
- Infill of built up areas inside the old village.

For a general view of developments, taking place in the period following *Doi Moi*:

Small manufacturing enterprises were attracted by the original nature of Thuong Dinh industrial zone. Small residential development accompanied the relaxation of restrictions and economic growth. Ha Dinh ward experienced accelerated urbanization with unorganized conversion of agricultural land to urban uses. Private self-built housing and manufacturing operations filled the vacant cultivated land and water bodies. Infill and expansion preceded any planning or construction of the necessary infrastructure (water supply, sanitation, roads, drainage and electricity). There were no realistic plans in place and no management willingness to control and guide the village's land use and housing development or to provide infrastructure.

In a study of a suburban Hanoi ward, Tran Mai Ahn (2005: 10) indicates that more than 50% of housing construction was carried out without building permission, as people did not consider it necessary, complicated and time consuming (60%) or were refused by authority when applying for permission (40%). People go on constructing their house because they are ready to pay penalty, which is so small compared to construction cost'. The study indicates that people come from the inner city of Hanoi to buy land and build houses6 (20% in the survey carried out), while speculators buy large plots at low rates for re-selling (50% of these plots are idle for years). 42% of all residents said that they had sold part of their land (ibid:12). The Ward office cannot keep track of the land use changes which includes land subdivision (where plots may be too small) but also land conversion, including residential land, garden land and filling up ponds. Infrastructure is problematic in that the inner area roads developed spontaneously, and are in a bad condition. Similar developments are reported for a suburban commune near Hue by Nguyen Phuc (2009:10). The CECODES/UNDP PAPI (2011) study found that only 7% of the interviewed had applied for construction permits when building or renovating their houses.

It may be noted that investment in land and housing in the urban fringe remains a popular aim of using money, as both banks and the stock exchange are not trusted (completely). Some are worried about a housing bubble as so much housing stock is created, and not all created housing is actually being used, but it seen an investment: anticipated gains in capital makes it less urgent that the house is actually occupied. As will be elaborated later, most housing in Vietnam is owner build, mostly informally without formal approval. According to Sharpe and Quang (2004: 3-2) 'informal development is preferred by most people as cheaper, more expedient and not subject to taxation'. They believe that the combined efforts of such builders have gone beyond the capacity of existing systems for drainage, flood management and solid waste.

Infrastructure, parks and green spaces

While Vietnamese cities expand, the need for urban infrastructure raises accordingly in terms of roads, water supply systems, sewerage and drainage, electricity supply and transportation modalities. It appears that, by and large, there are shortfalls as regards timely supply of such infrastructure. Vietnam News (3-12-2010) reports that:

⁶ Vietnam News, 3-4-11: "City dwellers move to suburbs to escape crowds in HCMC: 'HCM CITY — Experts said there was a new trend in the country's continuing urbanisation process – a move away from city centres to the suburbs to enjoy the fresher surroundings there. Speakers at a recent seminar in HCM City on urban development said with rapid urbanisation, cities like Ha Noi, Da Nang and HCM City are facing serious housing and employment shortages, pollution, creaking infrastructure, and social insecurity. To escape, many urban residents, mainly middleclass people, are moving to greener areas in the suburbs which are yet to be defiled by urbanisation.

The Construction Ministry report showed that although the infrastructure for urban transport had improved, the area of land set aside for this purpose was less than 10 per cent of the urban building area, much lower than the international standard of 16-25 per cent. ... Transport Minister Ho Nghia Dung said the investment in transport infrastructure had been inadequate and predicted that it would continue to decrease next year. Meanwhile, the number of cars in 2010 increased by 12.1 per cent over 2009 and the number of motorbikes rose by 10.3 per cent.

As will be elaborated in detail when discussing urban planning, there are severe problems as regards urban infrastructure in the urban fringe, which partly relate to the chosen (or actual) model of suburban growth where housing and industry often come first, infrastructure to follow (and at a higher cost than when provided initially). But evidence is mixed; against the large new road from Haiphong to Do Son, are plenty new housing estates that lack electricity and access roads. The Vietnam News newspaper 7 reports that 'the lack of transportation and social infrastructure in Hanoi's new urban areas has been detrimental to the quality of life for the residents, raising concerns about the quality of planning and development in the city'. A deputy minister is quoted to say that many investors only focus on selling houses, instead on investing in wider facilities. A survey of 18 urban area projects showed that only 4 areas were well populated thanks due their relatively sufficient infrastructure. Shape and Quang (2004: 31) note that 'Virtually all small scale land conversion and self-built housing has occurred without any official infrastructure. Electricity and water are acquired from adjacent existing establishments.....Drainage is compromised by conversion and loss of canals and ditches. Sanitation is equally compromised by the increased need and the decrease in natural systems and potential for aeration'.

So by and large, suburban land may be used for infrastructure, but this then often is of a basic nature, created spontaneously or late, meeting the basic requirements of citizens.

Cities in Vietnam are not known for large parks or green spaces and one might expect that spaces for that are being realised in the suburban areas. In general, the present area of tree-covered urban land remained small – 5.3 square metres per head in Ha Noi, and 3.5 square metres in HCM City⁸. However, this research has not found evidence that there is planning in the suburban areas for more greenery. This is confirmed in a study by Uy et al. 2008, which analyses the 2020 master plan for Hanoi. They believe that the green spaces as earmarked would be 'somewhat fragmented and isolated, which would lead to a reduction not only of green space, but also the quality of ecosystem services. They also find that plan lacks a framework for organizing

⁷ Vietnam News July 1, 2011 'Hanoi in need of urban planning'

⁸. The same Vietnam News reports that Deputy Prime Minister Hai said urban development in Viet Nam had failed to meet requirements for environment protection, water drainage, solid waste treatment and housing. Deputy Minister Nam said more efforts were needed to improve infrastructure in rural areas to induce people to remain there, reducing the burden on cities. VNS/31/12/2010.

green structures at different scales. This is an example where there is an evident and important need both for the population and for the urban environment, but which need is not articulated by any strong interest. This study perceived dynamics at the urban fringe from a power oriented stakeholder perspective, with weaker and stronger stakeholders all trying to articulate their individual or group interest, using various strategies in often very competitive contexts, which includes not sharing /withholding information, bribing, putting pressure etc. Stakeholders are listed in the next section.

3 Stakeholders in suburban land dynamics

The World Bank/Malcrow (2006), provide a useful overview of some winners and losers in the processes of land change in the suburban areas.

Amongst the winners are middle/ upper income groups who have access to high quality housing and to new lifestyle opportunities. Winners are also the construction industry, which develop and build housing, and winners are the labourers who find work here- and this could possibly mean jobs to displaced farmers. Finally, stakeholders who also stand to gain are the (people who develop as) land brokers and who gain new opportunities and capital, and become important local players. Positive in suburban development is that it is here that there is potential space for national, but especially foreign investment- FDI – which is often (too much?) encouraged through access to planned industrial estates (compare data on idle industrial parks etc in de Wit, 2011). Generally, cities benefit from an increased tax base. The urban fringe supports industrialisation by providing access to one critical means of production, which is relatively cheap and accessible.

On the negative side are the losers, including the Farmers losing land and receiving inadequate compensation leading to impoverishment, and they suffer losses of livelihood if they cannot enter the urban labour market (see also de Wit, 2011). Possible losers may be city dwellers without Land Use Rights LUR (ibid.). The table below indicates that it is especially (urban) residents who may not always have the LUR (No Author, 2006). However, it must be noted that some citizens themselves are not interested to obtain such LUR certificates as they have to pay when issued and they will have to pay tax subsequently (Sharpe and Quang 2004:3-5, see also WB-Denmark, 2011).

(for all kinds of land users)

2002

Agricultural land Forestry land Residential land

2005

2006

Year

FIGURE 1 Percentages of land with LURC for three kinds of land use from 1998-2006 (for all kinds of land users)

Special attention is required for the role and position of State Owned Enterprises (SOEs):

1998

1999

To some extent, limited access to industrial land simply reflects the overwhelming population density and the ensuing shortage of idle space within urban boundaries. Most of the existing industrial land is already occupied by SOEs, whereas the conversion of agricultural land into industrial land at the fringes of the cities is a slow and often controversial process. Thus, the supply of available land coming on to the market is too small to meet the demand. But in addition, SOEs often get priority in the allocation of whichever land is available. The case of Hanoi illustrates the point. In the period from 1994 to 2002, only 428 new rental contracts covering about 3 million square meters were issued. More than half of these contracts were to SOEs. By now, an overwhelming 95% of land under lease to organizations in Hanoi is in the hands of SOEs, leaving less than 5% to private firms, cooperatives and other production groups. (World Bank, 2006: Vietnam Development report, p. 81)

The importance of SOEs is confirmed by WB/Halcrow (2006: 4-7): 'According to the Dept of Construction in Danang, at the end of 2005, there were 380 housing projects in Danang City of which 374 belonged to Government and SOEs' (Sharpe & Quang, 2004:1-1): 'Informal development is augmented by large scale construction projects by SOEs for housing and industrial zones (see also Han et al, 2008: 1102).

Perhaps the role of SOEs cannot be separated easily from those of the People's Committees at various levels of administration (province/city; district and commune).

According to AusAid (2000:12) 'more than any other state organ, People's Committees are the major players in the land management system, with the most to lose from a shift from the present situation where officials work in a context of discretionary (self-regulated and corruption prone) regulation towards universal land tenure rights'. Indeed, Han et al (2008: 1103) indicates that 'Local Governments, in the form of People's Committees, often act as developers with their own budget and administrative resources (for example, issuing building permits). In a later section we will look more closely at relations between these groups and organisations.

4 Land use planning and zoning

Many reports and articles indicate severe problems with land (use) planning, which was confirmed during our field work. Officials, both at DONRE, but also at the Provincial, District and Commune level admitted that the planning process suffered from too many rules/decrees, and that it was complicated. Other sources confirm this, some going so far as to say that there is not actually any urban land use planning. One source said 'it is too late to make plans for the urban fringe as the key stakeholders have already put a large mark on the land and it will be hard to change things now... urban planning does not work at all9'. A study by DiGregorio and Vogler (2003) concludes that the Government of Vietnam strategy of diverting urban growth through a spatially balanced urban system that reflects the traditional typology of urban centres as nodes on (principally radial) transportation links may be ineffective or incomplete in the face of the dynamic urbanization generated within the villages in countryside. After discussing the matter with experts and laymen and reading the literature, (sub)urban planning in terms using the available land seems to be ineffective and inefficient (hence belying the title of the assignment). The main problems are listed here:

Planning systems are too rigid and coordination is weak

Gillespie captures the problems of planning and development control well in this statement (2004: 11-12):

By controlling the supply and use of land, planning profoundly affects private sector development. Soviet-inspired hierarchical, territorial planning requires local authorities to base detailed plans on policy solutions pre-determined by higher level authorities. Attempts to rigidly apply unrealistic socioeconomic plans to a 'third-world' built environment, raises land and housing prices beyond the means of most private sector players and the cost of peri-urban land clearance and development schemes beyond the resources of local authorities. Compounding these problems, detailed plans are only prepared for specific new developments. As a consequence, there are no mechanisms to allow the State to slowly convert non-conforming land use to comply with detailed plans. This allor-nothing approach to planning inhibits market forces from determining land use.

There are vast coordination problems. On the one hand planning is taken very seriously, and lots of energy may be invested by separate agencies to develop plans. On the other hand this leads to many plans (including regular Master plans) which can hardly be implemented. One informant said that there was quite an interest and dedication to make plans and to develop visions for urban development – but that implementation often was non-existent, which is

⁹ Personal communication during ALMEC interview.

partly a coordination matter. Most organisations involved in urban governance have a dual reporting responsibility and a dual upward accountability (if the downward accountability to the public is not counted for now). One the one hand they report to the central line ministry (e.g. DOC to MOC), on the other there is a horizontal relation to the appropriate People Committee at the various levels and in the various local areas (and policy arenas). Finally, organisations, departments and ministries have to comply to the overall guidance provided (and expected by) the Party.

However, this is again not the full story as there may be formal lines of authority and accountability, there are plenty cases where, for example, local government are going ahead with actions and decisions, without (waiting for) higher level approval. In a survey by Malesky (2004), 50% of Local Governments were experimenting in the policy field without permission, showing two sets of intergovernmental relations: formal and informal ones (in Han & Kim, 2010:504). Gillespie (2004: 12) provides the following useful table of agencies involved in land management—but only at the national level of Hanoi in the below Table 3:

| Institution | Function |
|---|--|
| MONRE (Ministry of Natural Resources and the | Nation-wide land use planning |
| Environment | Land legislation |
| DONRE (Department of Natural Resources and the Environment at the level of the Province) | • Land disputes |
| | Environmental protection |
| MoC (Ministry of Construction) | Nation-wide urban planning |
| | • Urban land use planning |
| | Housing construction |
| | Housing disputes |
| State Bank | • Regulates bank interest rates |
| | • Determines lending and debt security policies for banks. |
| MPI (Ministry of Planning and Investment) | • Approval of plans for capital investment |
| | Preparation of industrial parks |
| | Economic planning |
| MARD (Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development) | • Management of Agricultural land and unused land |
| MoF (Ministry of Finance) | • Land taxation and fee collection |
| | Land valuation |
| | Managing State land |
| | • Financing State land management |
| MoJ (Ministry of Justice) | Land legislation |
| | • Drafting real estate industry decree |

Many more agencies are involved at Province, District and even Ward levels. These agencies include the City/provincial agencies of Department of

Natural Resources and Environment DONRE (for land use), Department of Construction DOC (urban development) Department of Transport (transportation) whereas the Department of Planning and Investment DPI makes am umbrella Social Development Plan. However all these plans are by and large unrelated, resulting in severe implementation problems, as at the ground level things *are* obviously related – the environment to transport, social development to planning parks and playgrounds. So generally, the problems are not with planning as such, but with plan implementation. Observers say that the recent 2010 Urban Planning Law does not entirely deal with these issues and that it still has the ideology of the past.

Several studies indicate land planning problems (Gillespie, 2004, World Bank, 2006, No Author, 2006). Local agencies, including large cities, are seen to be in confusion about the linkages between Land Use Plans, construction plan, and rural residential areas plan. Land Use Plans, especially at the provincial and district level, do not meet social-economic development demands and the feasibility of implementation of Land Use Plans is limited, as there may be a lack of inputs from other sectors. These observations are confirmed in our interviews e.g. with DONRE in HCMC. Sharpe and Quang, 2004: 1-1) confirm this: 'planning of all types tends to be centrally driven and top down but remains uncoordinated with each entity pursuing its own mission' and 'Urban planning is unprepared for the emerging market oriented economy'. One issue is of course that planning is a state task, and that implementation is almost always in private sector hands—and there are normally (considerable) differences between what is planned and agreed upon by the State and what the developer/contractor does (quote VN news).

Plans and policies are not implemented or enforced

There is a marked contract between all the activity that is being undertaken to make plans from higher to lower levels of administration, and to collect data and report these diligently to higher levels of government – and the lack of actually enforcing the rules and regulations and legal provisions. It appears that there is some kind of collective unwillingness by most stakeholders – both state, not state, private parties and households- o abide by the rules or to enforce them. Sharpe and Quang (2004: 3-16) have put the problems well¹⁰:

There have been many violations of land use regulations by both household construction and state projects in the city, particularly in peripheral areas. Very limited sanctions have been imposed against such violations. Enforcement has been weak while the pressure of development is immense. In addition, many local authorities lack the human resources and a sufficient development control framework to implement the construction regulations. The absence of planned affordable new housing is leading to further growth of illegal settlements.

¹⁰ Vietnam News reports 7-7-2011 'Can Tho admits land use 'errors'. The Can Tho PC earmarked places and approved investments without adhering to the land use plan approved by the Prime Minster. Inspectors also found irregularities with the DONRE like not carefully assessing investor plans.

Encroachment occurs on all types of public and private lands with the use of road and footpath space by vendors and the filling of drainage ditches and lakes as the most conspicuous. Clearly the local official's willingness to enforce setbacks for rights-of-way is virtually non-existent. One explanation is that "rent-seeking" behaviour trumps exercise of responsibility and management. Another is that short-term benefit to the population for use of the land area is considered more important by local officials than and long-term cost savings if and when the infrastructure is actually provided (ibid: 3-31).

Planning follows actual developments

There has been a very fast change in Vietnam where everything was planned, controlled and provided by the state, to a situation (following *Doi Moi*, and changing ever more quickly) where developments driven by the market and the collective actions of citizens – as well as the informal/illegal actions of officials – have created dynamics that are out of control of the government. While the state is still trying to plan and control (sub) urban land use, it is too slow to do that properly. Citizens who require permits and building licenses have to wait too long if they follow normal legal channels, so they take a shortcut and pay some bribes. Also, by the time a Master or General Socio-development plan is completed and ready for being translated into detailed planning at lower levels of administration, things have already changed so much that such planning is often rather meaningless.

It is important to establish that more than 75-85% of the housing is constructed in the informal sector; which already goes to show that the formal (state) sector fails to meet housing needs (Sharpe Quang, 2004: 3-33). MONRE estimated that 40% of houses in Hanoi lack registered land titles, and that even houses with titles are routinely traded outside the state system (in Gillespie, 2011: 254). He quotes an IFC survey indicating that the level of land transactions taking place outside the state land tenure system at 75%. In such circumstances where housing and land affairs are largely beyond the control and probably (?) knowledge of the state, planning becomes ever so more difficult or should one say irrelevant. Communes develop into small towns and people themselves slowly delineate and improve roads, was shown for the Ha Dinh commune by Sharpe & Quang. More generally, housing complexes, residential housing expansions evolve without state approval and outside the plans.

There are three major problems here: The state so firstly loses out on selling land itself at proper rates to people who want to buy or develop housing or to start industries in suburban land; the state is confronted with spontaneous realities of planning and layouts which may not at all be as per plans, and may even be contrary to accepted norms of human habitation, environmental concerns, regular plot size or floor-space-index etc. And finally, the state will some time have to provide infrastructure and facilities but now at a much higher cost in much more complex conditions as people are living there already and which also means higher prices to compensate those who are to lose land, houses or farms. The State foregoes massive amounts of receipts, it loses all the way in such urban fringe dynamics, whereas all other parties gain —but they may have to wait long for acceptable living conditions. To the extent that the state has provided infrastructure before construction or occupancy, it generally lacks a mechanism to recoup those costs (Sharpe and Quang, 2004).

Capacity in terms of human resources is lacking

One element of urban planning problems is a capacity problem, where officials in the various national and lower level planning agencies are quite good at the technical work of making concrete maps, but there appears to be a lack of skills of creatively coming up with novel ideas or innovative designs, or to develop a new vision or new ideas. This is no doubt related to the Vietnamese education system where there is perhaps less attention for promoting creative, individual, critical thinking, as well as to existing intra-organisational realities which are relatively hierarchical (in terms of organisational theorist G. Morgan organisations more as bureaucracies and 'machines', rather than as 'brains', which are organisations geared to organisational learning, learning from past mistakes, and adapting to changing environments). This links to remarks made by Gillipsy, 2004:11-12, who correctly argues that the lack of evidence-based policy analysis leads to a general unawareness of the economic, social and environmental costs associated with overlapping, contradictory and overly managerial land management practices.

Capacity is also needed in urban management skills: urban management must be strengthened before planning can be effective: skills in planning, architecture, cost benefit analysis, GIS techniques etc. Besides, there is a lack of data and transparency vis-à-vis citizens. The World Bank et al. (2010: 10) has published a report on the availability of data on land management, and there are generally severe problems in data available to the Vietnamese citizens. However, the larger cities perform better than some provinces, but it is often the most sensitive and important information that is lacking also there. All this leads to a high degree of 'administrative mist'; and insufficient transparency (cf. de Wit, 2007).

No zone planning

Vietnam has not really adopted urban planning methods which are common in many developed countries where there is less emphasis on detailed overall master plans but where urban development often on a case by case basis is guided by general guidelines of urban development zones¹¹. This means rough rules for areas, but a detailed framework of indicators for houses, height, Floor Space Indexes FSI etc. In fact the Land Law of 2003 has an article 23 relating to 'Principles for Making of Land Use Zoning and Land Use Plans', but all

¹¹ Land-use Zoning: "The introduction of a land-use zoning system and the application of use class tables to guide future land-use development are proposed. The types of building activities that are permitted in each of the land-use zones are usually guided by the use class tables. There are various formats of use class tables. Principally, however, they contain a demarcation of the land-use zone on the map, the main development objectives of the zones, permitted building uses, conditional building uses, and building uses not permitted in the zones', (HAIDEP, 2007:159)

evidence indicates that this clause is not (yet) being implemented in the spirit of the law. And is zoning has been marked in the plans, zoning changes are frequent and unpredictable, possibly the result of local discretion, or different ground realities as compared to the land data/cadastre.

Planning as clearance—leap frog urbanisation and urban sprawl

There appears to be a preference for high rise urban development in the fringe of Vietnamese cities, which is presently perhaps most visible in Hanoi where one finds a scattering of high rise apartment blocks all over the urban fringe. These may have been constructed in land where there were settlements before but which were cleared. This leads to a specific type of city, one characteristic of which is that it is normally has to rely on individual transport; it leads to a 'high rise' city, with 'urban sprawl' and not to a compact city. A model would be possible of starting from the existing urban village and start planning city expansion around that village, taking over elements of style and architecture, preserving unique buildings and urban heritage¹².

Environmental issues

One severe and apparently increasing problem is pollution, which has several reasons including the rapid expansion of personal and public transport, which has raised levels of urban smog and 'fine dust'. The World Bank/ Malcrow 2006 argue that 'Inadequate enforcement of environmental regulations can lead to pollution while poor planning can result in the proximate development of residential and industrial areas'. This is then again related to the fact that there are often delays in the installation of waste treatment plants in industrial parks, so that untreated solid waste and effluents are dumped into local waterways and landfills¹³. McPhearson et all (2010) indicate a serious issue of the wrong incentives here: 'Our discussions with provincial authorities in Vinh Phuc and Binh Dinh indicate that some of these delays are strategic. The fines for improperly treated discharges and waste are significantly less than the costs of installing and operating waste treatment plants'.

5 Informality and corruption

It was already mentioned that much of land and housing in Vietnamese cities and their suburbs is informal: 75-85% of the housing is constructed in the informal sector; 40% of houses in Hanoi lack registered land titles, the level of land transactions taking place outside the state land tenure system at 75%. This is no doubt the major issue as regards the scope for an efficient use of and for planning for suburban land. Partly this relates to a certain slackness of officials at various levels to enforce existing rules and regulations- perhaps, as one

¹² Personal communication ALMEC representative.

¹³ Vietnam News 9-7-2011 'Pollution threatens city water supply'- reporting that the pollution in the Saigon river has become worse over the years as increasing industrialisation along the river bank threatens the main source of HCMC'.

source states (....) they simply cannot cope with all the action taking place at once. Partly it is the result of rent seeking of these officials who rather take some money than to serve state/the common interest. Finally it may be partly related to traditions and cultural norms where views on land and how to use it may not always be consistent with the de facto private property regime of the land laws. Sharpe and Quang (2004: 3-12) argue that, besides the government, nobody wants regulation and formality which would mean control and taxes. In their case study of a Hanoi suburban commune make the following observation which helps explain the reasons for large scale informality (3-28):

State control over the use, transfer, pricing and tariffs, and the land titling and registration system has limited official land development because the system is too cumbersome. The delays and subterfuge reported by developers and (FDI) investors for large scale projects is indicative of the vagaries of state management. Delay and inadequacy of state projects have promoted informal land development and transfer on household basis. Constraints on land availability through formal channels probably serves to inflate housing prices to the ultimate consumer. Current prices of formal dwellings (built with official permit) are very high and inaccessible for most low and middle-income households. Pricing and shear availability differentials between state allocation and market value are an encouragement to individuals to operate in the functional system outside the formal system.

Corruption is pervasive

There is corruption in all land transactions in Vietnam, including land use planning, land conversion and land allocation to investors after land recoverywith serious risks in land price determination (World Bank, Denmark Embassy et al 2011; IPSARD, 2010). Perhaps surprisingly, during our fieldwork we could not establish evidence as to the incidence of corruption or land speculation¹⁴. Respondents in our interviews, focus group discussions and surveys do not often openly refer to corruption – which could indicate that it is less omnipresent as is indicated in many reports, or – what is more likely - that there is a feeling that it may be risky to openly discuss this. This may even apply to interviewers (or my translators) being reluctant to ask, or 'you can ask it but you will get no answer'.

Some sources state that the main determinant of urban land use planning is the tendency of people in positions of decision making and power to make money for themselves. Sharpe and Quang (2004:3-10) argue that 'Planning done by officials may be designed to obtain private profits and rent seeking behaviour, which undermines planning for the public good and to externalise costs'. The example they provide is of a allowing a developer client to build a housing block at some distance and then the area in between becomes ripe for de facto less intense but more informal development based on the 'precedent' of existing development and the wishes for benefits of local officials. Another

¹⁴ In contrast, various sources agree there is plenty speculation, e.g. that speculators from Hanoi amd HCMA buy plots in resettlement areas in the urba fringe of Danang. Land prices in the former cities are high; speculation is driven by the lack of asset substitutes to land (World Bank/ALMEC, 2007a: 30).

example that was mentioned during our fieldwork was the very real problems in Vietnamese cities to relocate people for roads and, bridges and the like. The costs of compensation nowadays often exceed the actual construction costs but then part (some say half) of the latter funds may again be lost due to corruption. Corruption is related to ineffective planning systems operating at different levels, which are confusing and opaque, so that the public is unaware of actual plans and implementation implications (World Bank & UN Aid 2010). This lopsided access to critical information offers discretion to officials to anticipate on changes in land use and planned conversion. Corruption is also made easier through a lack of solid land data as in a comprehensive, constantly updated cadastre and in making public all plans and licenses.

Han and Kim (2008: 502) have carried out a content analysis of a Vietnamese newspaper from 1999-2006 and show that a majority of articles about land issues and controversies were editorials critical of the government, portraying government officials as 'greedy and corrupt individuals who took advantage of their position and did not follow the official regulations'. For all the mostly negative reports and pessimism, one source (The World Bank/Halcrow 2006:78) indicates that 'in Hanoi the State has tried to address the problem of speculation, by increasing taxation charged on land transfers, making buying and selling over a short period of time more expensive. Secondly, developers who are allocated land for residential development purposes are no longer allowed to divide the land into plots and sell it on without developing the site. These measures curbing land speculation seem to have been effective in that land prices have fallen'. However, these findings need to be further checked.

Legal pluralism and 'hanging plans'

The fact that corruption is generally perceived as a key problem in land management, and that much activity in land management occurs outside state contexts raises the question how relevant the formal planning rules and norms are to regulate all this informal activity (Sharpe et all 2004: 3-31):

There is considerable scepticism that planned improvements will actually occur and reasonable expectation that if they do, they will beyond the term of office or tenure of the officials. In fact, the term *quy hoach* for land use plans and also applied to utility plans implies scepticism about when and whether they will be implemented (in comparison to socio-economic plans that are ke *hoach* and considered "real" plans. Land use plans are also referred to as "hanging plans," *quy hoach treo* -- good only for hanging on walls. In that environment, it is no wonder that officials do not place a high priority on the preservation of utility corridors.

The same question has been asked about the law, in interesting perspectives which argue that laws such as the land laws may not be the best or only way to deal with land ownership and access to land. It can be argued that land laws based on Western notions of exclusive property rights and which regulate and enforce a rigid private property ownership of the land may miss out on key traditions and community cultural norms and practices relating to land (Gillespie, 2011; Sikor, 2004). There has been a global trend to increasingly establish the legal formalisation and clarification of property rights, which may be at the detriment of those not formally owning or having claims to property. This same trend also underlies the land legislation which has been introduced in Vietnam since 1993 and which is evolving rapidly in the context of fast transformation, as well as the demands of local and global capital and investors.

However, in the past people may have had property rights or claims traditionally as per community, clan or tribal custom, based on other values of land – not only as a commodity, but perhaps forming a mythical and legitimizing basis for family or community ties (ibid: 254). Gillespie shows that courts do take notions of what he calls 'self-regulatory communities' into account. Such communities are constituted by people who interact much, being from the same local area, and include land brokers, ward (Phuong) level officials and urban residents (ibid: 257). He shows that judges may take (informal, traditional) notions that are held by the communities into account, and that they play a large role on the Local Government Conciliation Councils. These are for a where urban land conflicts are discussed between the two contestants, the Phuong head, officials from construction departments and representatives of the Mass Organisations. The question arises as to whether and how this discourse is relevant to the development of new land legislation. Should there be more attention for the difference between 'theoretical land use planning' and the actual, practical, real, and 'likely to be implemented' land use planning? Sharpe and Quang (2004:3-9; also 2-12) note: 'with a lack of jurisprudence, each case is resolved on its own merits. The "rights model" that governs land use and ownership under Western Law is not readily transferable and would create chaos in Vietnam".

5 Benefits and impacts of alternative uses of suburban land for local communities

Some evidence is presented here on the impacts of fast suburban change on the residents in these suburbs and urban fringe areas. Two case studies are quoted to throw light on the matter: the Study of Ha Dinh (Sharpe & Quang: 2004: 3-25), a village 6 km south of Hanoi, where developments were traced following Doi Moi, and where residents by and large benefited much from changes. 'Small manufacturing enterprises were attracted by the original nature of Thuong Dinh industrial zone. Small residential development accompanied the relaxation of restrictions and economic growth. Private self-built housing and manufacturing operations filled the vacant cultivated land and water bodies". Infill and expansion preceded any planning or construction of the necessary infrastructure (water supply, sanitation, roads, drainage and electricity). It appears then as if the villagers seized and benefited from the new opportunities, both in terms of land (subdivision and selling of land and gardens), in terms of housing (reconstruct and enlarge existing housing and give out for renting) and employment (starting small family based enterprises, not state trading and manufacturing). However, adverse consequences are reported in terms of the environment and infrastructure.

In another case study, Phuc (2009) notes an increased social differentiation in the suburban Hue commune that he studied. He finds that a majority of people have managed to find new work in Hue or surrounding areas and in industrial zones. He makes the important point that in the past, village wealth could be best measured by the amount of land a household possessed; this is no longer the case. Indeed, it is often middle and rich household who converted all their land and are doing very well. It is rather the small farmers (2-3 sao) who have kept the land and practise agriculture. While before the period of large scale agricultural land conversion 60% of the Household heads were farmers, by 2007 the average of non-farm income is very high at 91,3%, while the ratio of farming to household income declined from 22 to 9%. The biggest change was for the poor households, where the non-farm income is 89% compared to 69% before land conversion (ibid:10-12). Phuc (2009:15) indicates that 'It is mostly the poor farmers and the people of above age 50 and who do not meet the requirements to work in factories, industrial zones and other non-farm occupations because of a lack of skills, education, health, and discipline that cause them to face many difficulties in their lives'. There are many industrial zones as well as factories in the suburban areas, some of which provide employee housing, either temporary or even quite durable, often for unmarried occupants.

6 Urban agriculture

Urban agriculture can be defined as "the growing of plants and the raising of animals within and around cities" (RUAF, 2011). It is different from rural agriculture in that it is integrated into the urban economic and ecological system, for example the use of urban residents as labourers, use of typical urban resources (like organic waste as compost and urban wastewater for irrigation), direct links with urban consumers, direct impacts on urban ecology (positive and negative), being part of the urban food system. Besides, urban agriculture is marked by the fact that land use faces competition with other urban functions, and that it is influenced by urban policies and plans- especially of course land in the peri-urban fringe areas. This is why the study of urban agriculture can be part if a study of suburban land use.

A few characteristics of urban agriculture are listed here (taken from RUAF, 2011; and Moustier, et al. 2010). These include that women constitute an important part of urban farmers, since agriculture and related processing and selling activities, among others, can often be more easily combined with their other tasks in the household; that it may take place in locations inside the cities (intra-urban) or in the peri-urban areas. Urban agriculture includes food products, (grains, root crops, vegetables, mushrooms, fruits) and animals as well as non-food products (like aromatic and medicinal herbs, ornamental plants, tree products, etc.) or combinations of these. It includes agricultural production activities as well as related processing and marketing activities, even while the produce may be for self-consumption, with surpluses being trade.

Relevant issues around urban agriculture that need to be studied include food security, its economic and income impacts, the social impacts and impacts on urban ecology. Where Vietnam is concerned, there is evidence that in Hanoi, 80% of fresh vegetables, 50% of pork, poultry and fresh water fish, as well as 40% of eggs, originate from urban and peri-urban areas (Nguyen Tien Dinh, 2000, in RUAF, 2011). This is confirmed by Moustier and Loc (2010), who indicate that about 30% of the population around Hanoi and HCMC is engaged in agriculture.

Various issues to be noted as a result of our investigation into Urban Agriculture are now listed here. A key one is the need to further define what is precisely urban agriculture in a context which is often changing very fast. For example, the city of Hanoi has just been expanded to now include a vast rural hinterland, all of which is now suddenly categorized as nominally urban. At the same time there are still many smaller scale 'traditional' farms here (see Moustier, 2010), which keep on farming pretty much as they always have done. Seen this way, there is plenty urban agriculture – including the Cu Chi area north of HCMC. However, it needs emphasizing that the city is always near, and that our fieldwork data indicate that many farmers are only part time farmers now, and that many household members now work in or near the city, for example in industries or trade (cf. de Wit, 2011).

But most people agree that the small scale farmer is losing ground (and land) steadily as has been amply documented in the above. Indeed, some sources say that there is actually an overall vision that Vietnam needs to urbanise and modernize. Farmers face very strong competition for their land from industry, and developers and private residents seeking more or better housing ('urban villas with a garden'). One obvious key reason is the price of the key production factor land: as soon as demand for land increases in the urban fringe, the relative land/income ratio changes and the farmer may be inclined to sell or seek employment alternatives.

Most officials and other well informed persons did not see much scope for urban agriculture, or to promote that deliberately. This especially seems to apply to the idea to create large intensive agricultural parks near cities. One argument for this might be lower transaction costs. In discussions with an Agro-Park entrepreneur near HCMC, he rather felt that it made more sense to move agriculture away from the cities – and to create large(r) and intensive agri-businesses at suitable locations in the provinces – given of course that these are connected through proper roads or railways. Indeed, there is a Decree which aims at promoting industrialisation of rural areas (so why ruralise the city? he asked).

At the same time, there are initiatives around the cities (both near HCMC as well as Hanoi) where farmers join forces in (loose) collectives; so that they for example can agree with a supermarket to reliably provide fresh and clean vegetables. There may be scope here for farmers to maintain or even increase incomes this way, and such voluntary forms of collective farming/marketing may offer a useful model to emulate.

One might conclude that forms of urban agriculture will always exist and remain – but rather more like a niche market - where a number of factors coincide to make it viable, if only temporarily: the availability of cultivable land in or near a city (including roof tops, vacant land waiting for construction or legally contested), labour to work the land (often women), and a market for the agricultural produce – the more near, the lower the transaction costs.

7 Conclusions

This final section contains some recommendations, where three remarks are in order. First, this is not the first text about land use planning and zoning and (sub) urban management (even while it proved hard to find much (recent) evidence at all as regards urban agriculture. Indeed there is a whole range of (donor agency) papers which have thoughtful and appropriate recommendations, and they have informed the suggestions mentioned here, sometimes added if seen as important (e.g. Sharpe and Quang, 2004).

Secondly, recommendations need to be feasible within a specific context, a specific political economy. This text has indicated lots of informal if not illegal and corrupt action surrounding land planning and urban management generally- and this occurs in informal arenas where information and money are shared amongst the powerful for private purposes. The main recommendation must then be that this larger and more structural matter needs addressing first, and this is something the Government of Vietnam, its numerous powerful public sector and party officials need to do - in a way that fits national and local institutional realities- and with an eye to equity, general people's welfare and sustainability.

Vietnam itself has to make a choice as to what type of cities it wants, whether it wants to stop the long term adverse consequences of lopsided planning which fosters inequality, and whether it can afford to lose so much capital in terms of informal and/or illegal land transactions in what in fact is state land. Presently, the private sector and (richer, educated) citizens benefit unduly in an uncontrolled urbanisation process, while state later has to pay the bill to add infrastructure at higher cost. This refers to the need to agree on a clear urban development strategy, based on an evidence based analysis of present realities and forces operating on cities and a frank and honest assessment of what goes wrong.

It would basically mean that existing laws are enforced (forcefully, if only to set examples), to enhance accountability, to refrain from illegal action. The laws as they are do not form the main problem: they are relatively good, give or take an amendment or clause, and they can be implemented in the right spirit. There is however a clear need for better rules and tools for urban management¹⁵. This confirms with the main recommendation of the World Bank/Denmark land corruption reference book (2011:xiii): all that is needed is to actually implement the existing laws 'the most obvious step is to thoroughly enforce the transparency provisions already in VN law'. It is of course only when Vietnam itself moves – as it has done admirably and remarkably already so far, that well-meaning recommendations from consultants or donor agencies have a chance to catch on. There are many very thoughtful people,

¹⁵ Do Tu Lan, deputy head of the Urban Development Department (Ministry of Construction) said many cities lacked control over investment. "The management capacity in cities for urban development is still poor," she said. Most cities and urban areas now have common planning for infrastructure development. Local authorities have the right to approve planning projects but it is hard to identify where investment sources should come from. This is a big problem in urban development. (Vietnam News, (02-12-2008)

including officials and politicians who know which way to proceed. And many of such recommendations will then be in the field of institutional strengthening and of building capacities at all levels¹⁶.

Thirdly, this text does not include assessing or advising on legal matters, which is therefore left to others. However, some critical matters are listed, mostly needing more research or further work.

The key recommendations relate then to suggestions in the field of governance (transparency, accountability, fighting corruption) and institutions (as in the rules of the game, norms and values, but especially addressing lopsided or perverse incentives which fundamentally determine urban governance and (suburban) land management). As indicated by some people interviewed, problems of suburban land use and management are not technical, but institutional. However, as indicated, the leadership of Vietnam have to take the lead, and subsequently such recommendations only become potentially successful, and the same applies to the remaining suggestions.

In agreement with a recommendation of AusAid (2000:7), there is a clear need for further clarification of the powers and responsibilities of land management agencies. Land management is complicated by unclear divisions of responsibility at the central level between the Ministry of Construction, MONRE, MPI, the General Department of Land Administration. There is poor communication (and mostly top-down) between the central agencies and local governments. There appear to be many land management conflicts, and there is evidence of 'unlawful' land allocation by People's Committees.

One key issue includes assessing and adjusting *incentives*, and any change needs to consider this (e.g. government salaries). For example, expanding urban boundaries appears to be in the personal interest of urban officials as this may add to their performance status, as the data on production increase, and whereas larger areas receive more central government support. Local Government has an incentive to recover land to comply with the Central Government and other directives relating to industrialisation, commercial or other development and to support the expansion of non-agricultural activity. As local government tax revenue is very low, provinces and districts have an incentive to gain funds for infrastructure and other expenses (even apart from rent seeking monies). Provinces have an incentive to promote urbanisation and industrialisation so that they can claim to be part of the national efforts to modernize and grow economically (IPSARD, 2010).

Suggestions as regards land use

Even while this cannot always be avoided, it needs to be explored to see whether it is viable not to build high rise housing blocks after clearing of periurban land – which leads to private transport based enclaves and urban sprawl. Better to promote the 'compact city' and start from existing (sub)urban villages and towns and create in circles high density urban areas or clusters, reachable

¹⁶ ALMEC is supporting the Capacity Development of the Vietnamese Institute for Architecture and Planning VIAP, as part of its urban development program for Hanoi.

by public transport and where people walk and use cycles and motorbikes as in present inner cities. This of course requires the state to take a much more proactive planning role: first provide infrastructure, then subdivide plots and parcels, ideally mixing housing, shops and entertainment, green spaces and employment. Then closely monitor developments. Planning (as in industrial zones) must take into account employment much more. Planning must be for the long term: invest for the future: tax rather than short term gains through the creating Industrial Zones where (local) government incomes are large but one time.

This study did not find much evidence of viable and expandable urban agriculture, and there is little (recent) information available. Active promotion does not seem viable; it will occur when possible and economically viablewhich is the situation today. As is already happening in the suburbs of Hanoi and HCMC there may be scope for farmers to work more together in collectives to jointly work towards reliable production for nearby urban markets. One interesting combination may be for farmers to target city tourists to help/visit/collect products. Problems that may be experienced by suburban farmers are listed by Mai Thi Phuong Anh et al. (2004) and may be addressed: farmers indicate that they face a lack of market information; they lack contacts with new partners for the marketing of products; there may be a lack of customers' trust in the products' quality; and there is the factor of the seasonality of production.

References

- Akker, M. van (2010) Urbis Hanoi 2010, GIS Instrument for Comprehensive Management of Urban Development Information, paper for a conference, Land Governance and the Environment – Building the Capacity Hanoi, Vietnam, 19-22 October 2009.
- Anh, T.M, Kidokoro, T., Do, H., 2005, A Study on the Role of Urban Planning Practices in Hanoi Urban Fringe Focusing on Management of Spontaneous Development – A Case Study in Phu Thuong Ward, Hanoi City, Conference paper prepared for the 8th International Conference on the Asian Planning Schools Association 11-14th September 2005.
- Asian Development bank (ADB) 2005, Volume 1: Summary Report, Regional Study on Rural, Urban and sub-regional linkages in the greater Mekong Sub Region (Vietnam, Lao PDR, Cambodia) A Holistic Approach to Development and Poverty Reduction, RETA 6121, Hanoi, Vientiane, Phnom Penh, Bangkok.
- Asian Development Bank (ADB) (2005) *Making Markets Work Better for the Poor*, Industrial and commercial land markets and their impact on the poor, Final Report, Hanoi, December 2005 (available at <u>www.markets4poor.org</u>).
- AUSAID (2000) Viet Nam Land administration, Working Paper 4, Prepared for AusAID.
- Berg, L.M. van der, M. S. van Wijk and Pham Van Hoi (2003) The transformation of Agriculture and Rural life Downstream of Hanoi, *Environment and Urbanization* 15(1): 35-52.
- CECODES, VVF and UNDP (2011) The Vietnam Provincial Governance and Public Administration Performance Index (PAPI): Measuring Citizens Experiences, Hanoi, UNDP and CECODES.
- DiGregorio and Vogler (2003), "The Invisible Urban Transition: Rural Urbanization in the Red River Delta", Paper presented at the 7th International Congress of Asian Planning Schools Association, Hanoi, September 2003.
- Phan Vu Quynh Chi and Akimi Fujimoto (2011) 'Land Tenure Systems and Rental Determination in a Suburban Village in Hanoi, Vietnam', *J. ISSAAS* Vol. 17 (1): 169-183.
- Gainsborough, M. (2002) 'Understanding Communist Transition: Property Rights in Ho Chi Minh City in the Late 1990s' *Post-Communist Economies* (2).
- Gainsborough, M. et al. (2009) Corruption, Public Administration Reform and Development, Hanoi: UNDP Vietnam.
- Gillespie, J. (2004) *Improving Land Policy to Promote Private Sector Development* AusAID Policy Note, unpublished paper.
- Gillespie, J. (2011), Exploring the Limits of the Judicialization of Urban Land Disputes in Vietnam. Law & Society Review, 45: 241–276.
- Government of Vietnam/National Assembly (2001) Law on Land No. 13-2003-QH11; This Law regulates the administration and use of land. Hanoi: GoVN.

- Haidep/Almec (2007) The Comprehensive Urban Development Programme in Hanoi Capital City of Vietnam. Hanoi: ALMEC and JICA.
- Han, Sun Sheng and Kim Trang Vu (2008) 'Land Acquisition on Transitional Hanoi, Vietnam', in *Urban Studies*, 45(5&6), pp. 1097-1117.
- HCMA/ J. de Wit (2012) Policy Implementation at various Levels of Provincial Administration: the case of Land Resettlement as regards the V ung Ang Economic Zone, Ha Tinh Province, The Hague: ISS, Working Paper Number 546; and Hanoi, Ho Chi Minh Political Academy HCMA: Occasional Paper (55 pages). Together with a team of eight Academy staff.
- Hyden, G., Court, J. and Mease, K. (2003), *Making Sense of Governance: The Need for Involving Local Stakeholders*', London: ODI Discussion Paper.
- IPSARD & Kennedy School of Government (2010) Land Policy for Socio-Economic Development in Vietnam, Hanoi: Institute of Policy and Strategy for Agriculture and Rural Development IPSARD.
- Kerkvliet, Benedict J. Tria (2006) Agricultural Land in Vietnam: Markets Tempered by Family, Community and Socialist Practices, *Journal of Agrarian Change* 6(3): 285-305.
- Kimeze, S.N. (2003) Farming in the city: an annotated bibliography of urban and periurban agriculture in Uganda, Prepared for the CGIAR Strategic Initiative on Urban and Peri–Urban Agriculture (SIUPA)
- Mai Thi Phuong Anh et al. (2004) *Basic Information on the Project Sites in Hanoi Peri-Urban areas*, Hanoi: Sustainable Development of Peri-Urban agriculture in South-East Asia project.
- McPhearson et al. (2010) *Policy Briefs relating to land in Vietnam*, Hanoi: IPSARD and JF Kennedy School of Harvard.
- Moustier, P. and Nguyen Thi Tan Loc (2010) 'The Role of Farmer Organisations in Marketing Periurban Safe Vegetables in Vietnam, in: *Urban Agriculture Magazine*, nr. 24, pp. 50-52.
- Lê Du Phong (2007) Thu nhập, đời sống, việc làm của người có đất bị thu hồi để xây dựng khu công nghiệp, khu đô thị, kết cấu hạ tầng kinh tế-xã hội và các công trình công cộng phục vụ lợi ích quốc gia [Income, living conditions, and occupation of villagers who have lost land due to the building of industrial zones, residential projects, and other published projects]. Hà Nội: Nhà xuất bản Chính trị Quốc gia.
- Nguyễn Hữu Tiến (2007) Vấn đề chuyển đổi mục đích sử dụng đất nông nghiệp trong quá trình công nghiệp hoá, đô thị hoá [Some issues on agricultural land conversion in the industrialization and urbanization process]. The Journal of Vietnam Communist Party 12 (132).
- Nguyen Quang Phuc (ND) Urban Expansion, Marginalization, and Local Responses: A Case Study of A Suburban Community in Central of Vietnam, Hue: Hue University: The College of Economics
- No Author? (2006). Land Policy in Vietnam: Current Status and Key Challenges, A stocktaking paper (excellent source, but no author, draft paper)

- RUAF/ Resource Centre on Urban Agriculture and Forestry (2011) 'Urban Agriculture Policies', http://www.ruaf.org/node/2323, accessed 5 May 2011.
- RUAF/SIUPA (2001) Proceedings of the expert workshop on Appropriate Methodologies for Urban Agriculture; Research, Policy development, Planning, Implementation and Evaluation, October 1- 5, 2001, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Sharpe, H. and Nguyen Quang (2004) Urbanization Issues Paper, esp. Section 3: Peri-Urban Development. Paper for the World Bank, Hanoi: World Bank.
- Sikor, T. (2004) 'Conflicting Concepts: Contested Land relations in North Western Vietnam, *Conservation and Society* (2), 1-17.
- Tran Duc Vien et al. (2005) Rural-*urban land use changes in Peri-Urban Hanoi,* Centre for Agricultural Research and Ecological Studies (CARES), Hanoi Agricultural University and Wageningen University and Research Centre.
- Tran Thi Van (2006) Urban Expansion and Loss of Agricultural Land in the North of Ho Chi Minh City: a GIS and remote sensing approach, Ho Chi Minh City: Vietnam National University.
- Uy, Pham Duc and Nobukazu Nakagoshi (2008) 'Application of Land Suitability, Analysis, and Landsacpe Ecology to Yrban Greenspace Planning in Hanoi, Vietnam', in: *Urban Forestry and Urban Greening*, nr. 7, pp. 25-40.
- Webster, D. (2003), *Identifying Strategic Priorities for Urbanization in Vietnam*, Enschede: ITC, unpublished paper.
- Wit, J. de/ HCMA (2012) Policy Implementation at various Levels of Provincial Administration in Vietnam; the case of Land Resettlement as regards the Vung Ang Economic Zone, Ha Tinh Province, The Hague: ISS, Working Paper Number 546; and Hanoi, Ho Chi Minh Political Academy HCMA: Occasional Paper (55 pages). Together with a team of eight Academy staff.
- Wit, J. de (2011) Policy Brief on Tracing and Understanding the Welfare, Well-being and Livelihood Choices of Farmers displaced by Land Recovery in Vietnam', written for UNDP with the Centre for Agricultural Policy CAP of the Institute of Policy and Strategy for Agriculture and Rural Development (IPSARD), Hanoi: UNDP.
- Wit, J. de (2007) Decentralisation, Local Governance and Community Participation in Vietnam, Research Report on missions in provinces of Vietnam as part of the VASS-ISS project 'Upgrading the Capacity of Local Authorities in Planning and Managing Social – Economic Development in Rural Vietnam'. Hanoi: Vietnamese Academy of Social Sciences VASS and The Hague: ISS.
- Word Bank, Denmark Embassy and Embassy of Sweden (2011) Recognising and reducing Corruption Risks in Land Management In Vietnam; a Reference Book, Hanoi: National Political Publishing House.
- World Bank, UK-Aid and DEPOCEN, (2010) Survey Report on Information Disclosure of Land Management Regulations, Prepared by Development and Policies Research Center (DEPOCEN). Hanoi.
- World Bank/ALMEC Corporation (2007) Assessment of Housing for Low Income Groups in Danang, Draft Final Report, Main Text, ALMEC Corporation.

- World Bank/ALMEC Corporation (2007-A) Assessment of Housing for Low Income Groups in Danang, Draft Final Report, Main Text, AlMEC Corporation; ANNEX 1: Da Nang survey of resettled farm households and assessment of land use on resettlement site.
- World Bank (2006) Urban Development Strategy; Meeting the Challenges of Rapid Urbanization and the Transition to a Market Oriented Economy, Hanoi: The World Bank in Vietnam (EAP Sustainable development on the Urban Fringe, Draft final report Vol. 1.
- World Bank & other donor agencies (2006-a) Vietnam Development Report: Business Hanoi.